IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

WYDELL JODY EVANS,) Appellant,) vs.) STATE OF FLORIDA,) Appellee.)

CASE NUMBER SC00-468

APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT IN AND FOR BREVARD COUNTY, FLORIDA

INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

JAMES B. GIBSON PUBLIC DEFENDER SEVENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT

MICHAEL S. BECKER ASSISTANT PUBLIC DEFENDER FLORIDA BAR NO. 0267082 112 Orange Avenue, Suite A Daytona Beach, Florida 32114 (904) 252-3367

COUNSEL FOR APPELLANT

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On November 10, 1998, the grand jury in and for Brevard County returned an indictment charging appellant with one count of first degree premeditated murder in violation of Section 782.04(1)(a), Florida Statutes (1997), one count of kidnapping in violation of Sections 787.01(1)(a)2, (1)(a)3, and (2), Florida Statutes (1997), one count of aggravated assault in violation of Section 784.021(1)(a), Florida Statutes (1997) and one count of possession of a firearm by a convicted felon in violation of Sections 790.23(1) and (3), Florida Statutes (1997). (Vol. III, 451-452) Appellant filed a motion to suppress statements and admissions made by him on the grounds that they were not voluntary and were obtained in violation of his <u>Miranda¹</u> rights. (Vol. III, 497-504, 529) A hearing on the motion to suppress was conducted July 8, 1999 and October 18, 1999. (Vols. I & II, 1-296) Following testimony and argument of counsel, trial court denied the motion to suppress. (Vol. II, 265-266, 290; Vol. III, 544-545) Upon defense motion, the trial court granted the motion to sever the possession of a firearm by a convicted felon charge from the remaining charges. (Vol. III, 554-555)

Appellant proceeded to jury trial on the charges on October 25, 1999 with the Honorable Jere Lober, circuit court judge, presiding. (Vols. V-XV, 1-2145) Defense counsel made a motion in limine to prevent disclosure that appellant had previously been in jail when a phone conversation between appellant and the victim was overheard by a pod-mate Edward Rogers. (Vol. V, 1633) The trial court denied the motion but agreed to give a limiting instruction. (Vol. V, 33) After the jury was sworn, but before opening statements, defense counsel moved for invocation of the rule of sequestration. Defense counsel asked that appellant's mother be excluded from the rule but the trial court refused to do this. (Vol. IX, 944) However, appellant objected to the trial court's excusal of the victim's father

¹*Miranda v. Arizona*, 384 U.S. 436 (1966)

from operation of the rule of sequestration. (Vol. IX, 944-953) During opening statement, defense counsel objected to the prosecutor giving jury instructions in her opening statement. (Vol. IX, 967) The trial court overruled the objection but did give a cautionary instruction to the jury. (Vol. IX, 967) During the testimony of the first state witness, the victim's father caused a courtroom disturbance. (Vol. IX, 1000) Defense counsel moved for a mistrial because of this outburst which was denied. (Vol. X, 1015) Following the testimony of Edward Rogers, the trial court instructed the jury not to infer that appellant was guilty of any other crime simply because he had been in jail when Rogers heard the statements he testified to. (Vol. XII, 1417) Appellant's statement to the police officers were admitted into evidence over objection. (Vol. XII, 1509, 1536-1537) Defense counsel made a motion for judgment of acquittal arguing that the evidence failed to show any premeditation as to the murder charge and that there was no evidence of a kidnapping since the alleged victims could have left at any time. (Vol. XIII, 1738-1754) The trial court denied the motion. (Vol. XIII, 1754) The motion was renewed at the end of all the evidence and again denied. (Vol. XIV, 1886) During the state's rebuttal argument, defense counsel objected and moved for a mistrial when the state suggested that the defendant could have prevented the situation by turning over a gun. Defense counsel argued that such comment coupled with a previous comment improperly

3

shifted the burden of proof to the defense. (Vol. XIV, 2098-2099) The trial court denied the motion and overruled the objection stating that the state's argument went towards appellant's motivation. (Vol. 15, 2100) Following deliberations, the jury returned verdicts finding appellant guilty as charged on all three counts. (Vol. XIV, 2143-2145)

On November 3, 1999, appellant proceeded with the penalty phase of the trial. (Vols. XV-XVII, 2196-2418) Defense counsel objected to the state presenting the summaries of the prior offenses contained in a presentence investigation report. (Vol. XVI, 2224) The trial court ruled that the summaries were admissible and also noted that the objections to them were preserved for appellate purposes. (Vol. XVI, 2229, 2243) During deliberations in the penalty phase, the jury returned with a question asking "does life in prison without the possibility of parole mean the Defendant will not be released from prison under any circumstances?". (Vol. XVI, 2392) With the agreement of the defense, the trial court responded to the question "the words life imprisonment without the possibility of parole mean no more and no less than what they say." (Vol. XVII, 2414) Following deliberations, the jury returned an advisory recommendation that appellant be sentenced to death by a vote of ten to two. (Vol. XVII, 2418)

On November 8, 1999, appellant filed a timely motion for new trial. (Vol. IV,

606-611) A hearing on the motion for new trial was conducted on December 21, 1999. (Vol. II, 297-337) The trial court ultimately denied the motion for new trial. (Vol. III, 400) On January 4, 2000, the trial court conducted a <u>Spencer²</u> hearing. (Vol. II, 338-381)

On February 15, 2000, appellant again appeared before Judge Lober for sentencing. (Vol. III, 398-453) The trial court sentenced appellant to life in prison as a prison release reoffender for the kidnapping conviction and a concurrent term of 108.15 months in prison for the aggravated assault conviction. These sentences were to run consecutive to the sentence of death imposed for the first degree murder charge. (Vol. III, 446, Vol. IV, 634-641) The trial court filed written findings of fact in support of his sentence of death. (Vol. IV, 642-662)

Appellant filed a timely notice of appeal on February 17, 2000. (Vol. IV, 668) Appellant was adjudged insolvent and the Office of the Public Defender was appointed to represent him on appeal. (Vol. IV, 665-666)

² Spencer v. State, 615 So. 2d 688 (Fla. 1993)

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

A. Guilt Phase Facts.

In October of 1998, appellant and Edward Rogers were both in jail. (Vol. XI, 1386) Rogers heard appellant arguing with someone on the phone. (XI, 1387) After appellant got off the phone, he told Rogers that he was angry with Angel Johnson and said if he got his hands on her he'd "kill the bitch." (Vol. XI, 1386) On a previous occasion, Rogers said under oath twice that appellant said he'd "kill the bitch for what she had done to him." (Vol. XII, 1413) On October 21, 1998, Sammy Hogan picked up appellant and Lino Odenat to give them a ride to Cocoa. (Vol. X, 1058, Vol. XI, 1222) As they drove, they passed a car on the side of the road in which Angel Johnson, Erica Foster, and April Holmes were sitting. (Vol. X, 1064, Vol. XI, 1234, Vol. IX, 988; Vol. XIV, 1827) Appellant had known Angel all of her life. (Vol. XIV, 1827) Angel was appellant's brother's girlfriend. (Vol. IX, 987) Sammy stopped his car and appellant got out and spoke with Angel. (Vol. IX, 989; Vol. XI, 1234; Vol. XIV, 1830) Angel and Erica agreed to ride along to Cocoa. (Vol. IX, 989; Vol. XI, 1234; Vol. XIV, 1830) Sammy was driving the car and appellant was sitting in the front passenger side with Lino sitting directly behind appellant, Erica sitting in the middle of the back seat and Angel sitting directly behind the driver. (Vol. IX, 991; Vol. X, 1066) Erica testified that

when she got in the back seat, Lino had a gun in his lap which was normal for him so Erica did not think anything of it. (Vol. IX, 993) Sammy testified that he never saw any firearm in the car. (Vol. X, 1067) Lino testified that he thought that appellant had a gun although he did not see it. (Vol. XI, 1235) Before continuing to Cocoa, Sammy decided he had to stop and get gas but was directed away from two gas stations by appellant who claimed that there were too many police around. (Vol. IX, 991-992; Vol. X, 1067; Vol. XI, 1245; Vol. XIV, 833) They finally stopped at a Mobil station on Babcock where Sammy pumped gas and Angel went inside to pay for the gas and to buy some chips. (Vol. IX, 995; Vol. X, 1067-1068; Vol. XI, 1245-1247; Vol. XIV, 1833) Sammy drove out of the gas station and proceeded towards Cocoa when all of a sudden an argument began between appellant and Angel about Angel cheating on appellant's brother. (Vol. X, 1068; Vol. IX, 996; Vol. XI, 1253-1255) Sammy told appellant that Angel was not cheating but appellant told him to shut up and to mind his own business and then appellant punched Sammy's windshield and cracked it. (Vol. X, 1068-1069) According to Lino, Erica started to butt in the argument and appellant called Erica a bitch. (Vol. XI, 1253) At some point Angel began to laugh at which time, appellant turned around and said "you think it's funny?" and shot Angel once. (Vol. X, 1069; Vol. IX, 998) Appellant testified that after they left the Mobil station, he

decided to play a tape and happened to feel a hard object on the seat next to him and discovered that it was a firearm. (Vol. XIV, 1836) Knowing that he had just gotten out of jail, appellant did not want this gun near him so he testified that he handed to Angel and told her to put it in the back seat somewhere. (Vol. XIV, 1837-1838) Appellant testified that Angel laughed and pushed the gun away and as she did so it discharged striking her. (Vol. XIV, 1838) Lino also testified that appellant was passing the gun to the back seat when Angel "patted it" and it went off. (Vol. XI, 1259) Erica and Sammy both testified that Angel never touched the gun. (Vol. IX, 999; Vol. X, 1072) However, in a previous statement, Erica testified under oath that appellant and Angel "tussled" over the gun. (Vol. X, 1031) After being shot, Angel fell into Erica's lap and said "Wydell you shot me for real, you shot me for real." (Vol. IX, 999) Appellant told Sammy to drive him to "Big Dick's" in Eau Gallie. (Vol. X, 1073, 1018; Vol. XI, 1267; Vol. XIV, 1839) Sammy claimed that appellant pointed the gun at his and Erica's heads and threatened them. (Vol. X, 1073) On the way to Big Dick's, Erica said that appellant gave the gun back to Lino. (Vol. X, 1018) However, Sammy testified he never saw appellant do anything with the gun after the shooting. (Vol. X, 1071) When they arrived at Big Dick's, Sammy pulled in front of the house and appellant got out and went up to the front porch and knocked on the door. (Vol. X, 1019,

1073-1074, 1138; Vol. XI, 1270; Vol. XIV, 1842) Appellant told Big Dick that he had just shot a girl and asked him to lend him some money. (Vol. X, 1141) Appellant was quite upset. (Vol. X, 1141; Vol. XIV, 1842) While they were waiting at Big Dick's, Lino had the gun and was going to step out of the car so that Sammy and Erica could take Angel to the hospital. (Vol. X, 1020, 1075) However, appellant told Lino to get back in the car and he did. (Vol. X, 1076, 1142, 1020) Erica testified that they were at Big Dick's house 4 to 5 minutes. (Vol. X, 1034) Sammy testified that they were at Big Dick's 1 to 2 minutes. (Vol. X, 1076) Big Dick testified that appellant was at his house for about ten minutes. (Vol. X, 1143) Appellant got back in the car and Sammy drove just a short distance and stopped in a parking lot. (Vol. X, 1020-1021, 1076, 1143, 1271) According to Erica and Sammy, appellant threatened to kill them and their families if they told anyone what had happened. (Vol. X, 1021, 1077) Although Lino originally told the police that appellant had threatened Sammy and Erica, he denied that on the stand. (Vol. XI, 1271-1274) Appellant told Erica and Sammy to take Angel to the hospital. (Vol. X, 1022, 1077; Vol. XI, 1271, 1321; Vol. XIV, 1843) Elijah Fulton, also know as "19", came by and picked up appellant and Lino and took them to appellant's cousin Darryl Little. (Vol. XIV, 1845) Darryll then took appellant to a Days Inn in Palm Bay where he spent the night. (Vol. XIV, 1845)

When they got to the hospital Sammy and Erica both told the police that Angel had been shot by a white man over a bad drug deal. (Vol. X, 1025, 1079) However, both of them ultimately told the police that appellant shot Angel. (Vol. X, 1025) Angel testified that while they were at Big Dick's, Sammy could have simply driven off but he did not. (Vol. X, 1035) On the day before she died, Angel and Sammy came over to appellant's house in the afternoon and stayed for about an hour. (Vol. XIV, 1818) That evening, appellant and Angel visited Erica at her house. (Vol. X, 1036) Erica testified that there was no animosity between appellant and Angel at that time. (Vol. X, 1037) On the morning that Angel died, Sammy took Angel and appellant down to the Viera Courthouse where appellant's brother was to stand trial. (Vol. X, 1105; Vol. XIV, 1829) Once again, there was no animosity shown between appellant and Angel during this time. (Vol. X, 1106; Vol. XIV, 1829)

Officer Johnny Rodriquez of the Melbourne Police Department responded to the hospital at approximately 12:20 a.m. with reference to a shooting. (Vol. X, 1153) Rodriquez interviewed two witnesses, Sammy Hogan and Erica Foster, who were uncooperative at first. (Vol. X, 1157) Sammy Hogan said the victim was shot by a white male in a cream-colored car over a bad drug deal. (Vol. X, 1158) Dennis Nickles of the Melbourne Police Department interviewed Erica Foster who

told him that a white male had shot Angel. (Vol. X, 1171) Officer Wendy Yorkey met with Erica who was quite upset. (Vol. X, 1177) When Erica was confronted with evidence which disputed her original statement, she changed her story although she was reluctant to tell what really happened. (Vol. X, 1168, 1177) Over objection, Yorkey was able to testify that Erica wrote down the name Wydell as being the person who shot Angel. (Vol. X, 1178-1179) Lt. Mark Laderwarg testified that he also met with Sammy Hogan whom he had known all of his life and who was extremely upset. (Vol. X, 1197-1199) When Sammy was confronted by the officers with the information that Erica had changed her story as to what happened, Sammy also admitted that he lied and told the officers that appellant was the one who shot Angel. (Vol. X, 1160; Vol. XI, 1213-1214) A warrant for appellant's arrest was obtained and appellant was arrested at the Days Inn in Palm Bay without incident. (Vol. XII, 1420, 1429, 1434-1435, 1439)

Paul Vasallo, the district medical examiner of Brevard County testified that he conducted an autopsy on Angel Johnson and found a single gunshot wound to the middle of the chest with an exit wound in the back. (Vol. XI, 1332) The bullet severed the aorta and injured Angel's left lung. (Vol. XI, 1344) If she did not get immediate medical attention, Angel would die within minutes but would be unconscious before that. (Vol. XI, 1348) The cause of death was a loss of blood due to a gunshot wound. (Vol. XI, 1349) Officer Jack Klein of the Melbourne Police Department testified that he conducted a gunshot residue test on appellant. (Vol. XI, 1369-1372) George Morissette of the Melbourne Police Department testified that he attended the autopsy of Angel Johnson and conducted a gunshot residue test on Angel. (Vol. XII, 1456-1457) An analysis of the gunshot residue revealed no gunshot residue present in the sample from appellant and a positive result for gunshot residue on the sample taken from Angel. (Vol. XII, 1487, 1489)

Detective Rory Nelson of the Melbourne Police Department was the lead investigator and conducted an interview shortly after his arrest on October 22, 1998. (Vol. XII, 1531) Appellant was advised of his <u>Miranda</u> rights understood them and agreed to talk to the officers. (Vol. XII, 1533-1535) Originally, appellant stated that he was not present when Angel was shot. (Vol. XII, 1572) Appellant admitted that he was upset with Angel for cheating on his brother but denied trying to hurt her. (Vol. XII, 1575) However, after speaking with Sgt. Larry Carter who is a family friend for over ten years, appellant ultimately admitted that he did fire the gun but that it was an accident and he did not mean to shoot Angel. (Vol. XII, 1511; Vol. XIII, 1691-1694) Consistent with appellant's trial testimony, appellant ultimately told police officers that he discovered the gun in the front seat and was passing it to Angel when Angel hit it and the gun went off. (Vol. XIII, 1691, 1694)

B. The Penalty Phase Facts.

The state presented copies of judgments and sentences which showed that appellant had two prior convictions for battery on a law enforcement officer and a prior conviction for aggravated battery although the presentence investigation summaries revealed little if any injuries as a result of these convictions. (Vol. XVI, 2260, State Exhibits 1-8) Ron Gray, a probation officer, testified that on the day that Angel was shot, appellant was on active probation. (Vol. XVI, 2263) Lilly Evans, appellant's mother, testified that appellant was born in Macon. Georgia in 1971 and they moved to Brevard County in 1973 shortly after appellant's father died. (Vol. XVI, 2276-2277) Evans and her family moved in with Lilly's mother where they stayed until appellant was approximately twelve years of age. (Vol. XVI, 2278) Lilly testified that she was not a big presence in appellant's life because she became a crack addict which she believed caused changes in her children's behavior. (Vol. XVI, 2279-2281) Appellant was a great inspiration to Lilly and helped her to guit her drug habit. (Vol. XVI, 2281) At sixteen, appellant had a child who was placed into foster home because appellant was in jail and the mother was addicted to drugs. (Vol. XVI, 2282, 2346) When appellant got out of prison at seventeen, he actively sought and received custody of his daughter. (Vol. XVI, 2346, 2282) Appellant has five children in all and is very good with them and

spends lots of time with his children. (Vol. XVI, 2289, 2347, 2327-2329)

When appellant's grandmother got sick, appellant helped to take care of her. (Vol. XVI, 2292, 2330, 2352) Several witnesses testified that appellant was a good father and very good with friends, counseling others to stay out of trouble and to stay in school. (Vol. XVI, 2302-2305, 2310, 2327, 2350) Patty Walker, appellant's cousin, testified that appellant was a loving and kind individual who helped her out financially when she needed it and lent her money to pay for her wedding. (Vol. XVI, 2317) Additionally, appellant paid money so that Patty's son could play football and never asked to reimbursed. (Vol. XVI, 2318)

C. Spencer Hearing Facts.

Paul Johnson, the victim's father, testified that although appellant needs to be punished, he did not think that he deserved the death penalty. (Vol. II, 363-364) In the presentence investigation, it was also revealed that several other members of Angel Johnson's family testified that they did not believe that appellant should receive the death penalty. (Vol. II, 355-356, 365) Appellant again testified that he did not intentionally kill Angel although he understands that the jury found him guilty. (Vol. II, 370) Appellant asked Angel's father for forgiveness and told him that he will accept his penalty. (Vol. II, 371-373) The trial court was also presented with a package of letters and petitions signed by numerous community members asking that appellant receive a sentence of life imprisonment. (Vol. II, 341-342)

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENTS

Point I.

It was error to admit hearsay statements of Erica Foster and Sammy Hogan during the guilt phase where such statements did not gualify as excited utterances.

Point II.

It was error to deny a motion for mistrial where the prosecutor in closing argument improperly shifted the burden of proof to the defendant.

Point III.

The instruction on kidnapping given by the trial court was both confusing and legally insufficient. Appellant is entitled to a new trial because of the erroneous instruction.

Point IV.

The evidence is legally insufficient to support a conviction for either first degree murder or kidnapping.

Point V.

The trial court erred in permitting the state to admit into evidence portions of presentence investigations where the defendant was not given any opportunity to rebut the information contained therein.

16

Point VI.

The imposition of the death penalty is proportionally unwarranted in this case.

ARGUMENTS

<u>POINT I</u>

IN VIOLATION OF THE SIXTH AND FOURTEENTH AMENDMENTS OF THE UNITED STATES CONSTITUTION AND ARTICLE 1, SECTIONS 9 AND 22 OF THE FLORIDA CONSTITUTION, THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN PERMITTING THE STATE TO ELICIT HEARSAY TESTIMONY THROUGH ITS POLICE OFFICER WITNESSES.

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