IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

WYDELL JODY EVANS,

Appellant,

v.

CASE NO. SC00-468

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

ON APPEAL FROM THE EIGHTEENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT IN AND FOR BREVARD COUNTY, FLORIDA

ANSWER BRIEF OF APPELLEE

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH ATTORNEY GENERAL

JUDY TAYLOR RUSH
ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL
Fla. Bar #438847
444 Seabreeze Blvd. 5th FL
Daytona Beach, FL 32118
(386) 238-4990
Fax # (386) 226-0457
COUNSEL FOR APPELLEE

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

having time for **reflective** thought. Since Sammy identified Evans as the shooter while still under the stress of the starting events causing his nervous excitement without time for reflective thought, it was an excited utterance.

The evidence in this case clearly shows that Sammy did not fact engage in a reflective thought process before identifying Evans as Angel's killer. Thus, the statement about the man in a Cougar, made while Sammy was still under the great excitement caused by the startling events, did not preclude the trial court's finding that the statement identifying Evans as the shooter was an excited utterance. Stoll, 762 So. 2d at 873 (emphasis added). As with Erica, the record indicates that Sammy did not engage in reflective thought. Rather, he went along with the unrehearsed identification Erica blurted out based on the directive and storyline provided by Evans. There was no plan or prior communication between them regarding what they would say about the identity of the shooter. Clearly, both were extremely upset, worried about their friend, and afraid for their own lives and those of their loved ones. Laderwarg's testimony relating Sammy's excited utterance identifying Evans as Angel's shooter was properly admitted. Rogers.

Since competent, substantial evidence supports the trial

court's conclusion that both Erica's and Sammy's identification of Evans to the officers were excited utterances, there was no error in their admission. In Henyard v. State, 689 So. 2d 239 (Fla. 1996), the statement of a surviving victim to a police officer, made quite some time after the crimes, was admitted into evidence as excited utterances. The victim, Mrs. Lewis, had managed to reach "the front porch of a home" some distance from where she had been shot, and her children killed, by the defendant. The home occupant called the police, and "[w]hen the officer arrived, he found Ms. Lewis, who was hysterical but coherent." 689 So. 2d at 251. She "told him she had been raped and shot, identified her assailants as two young black males who fit the description of Henyard and Smalls, and said they had taken her children." Id. This Court found "that Ms. Lewis was still experiencing the trauma of the events she had just survived when she spoke to the officer and her statements were properly admitted under the excited utterance exception to the hearsay rule." Id.

In the instant case, the victims, Erica and Sammy, experienced the startling and wholly unexpected shooting of their close friend and relative, Angel. They were both threatened with their lives and the lives of their loved ones should they identify the shooter. They were forced to ride

around the countryside as directed by the shooter rather than take the dying victim to the hospital. Indeed, Angel lay in Erica's lap, gasping for air that Evans denied her. After being threatened a second time and instructed to make up a story about who shot Angel, they were finally permitted to leave with Angel and took her directly to the hospital. Sammy listened to Angel's pleas for help on the frantic drive to the hospital. At the hospital, they were questioned by police before even learning that Angel was dead. The evidence is clear that both were extremely upset over what had happened, were afraid for their friend, and were in fear for their lives. The statements identifying Evans as the shooter were made while they were still experiencing the trauma of the events they had just survived. Their statements made to Officers Yorkey and Laderwarg were properly admitted as excited utterances. Henyard.

Finally, assuming arguendo that admission of either, or both of, Erica's or Sammy's statements through the testimony of the subject officers was error, any error was harmless beyond a reasonable doubt. In *Henyard*, this Court noted that even if admission of the officer's testimony regarding the statements Ms. Lewis made to him was error, the error was harmless. 689 So. 2d at 251. Ms. Lewis had testified at length at Henyard's trial, "identifying him as one of her assailants" Id.

"Because the officer's testimony . . . was nothing more than a generalization of specific information which Ms. Lewis testified to at trial from her own personal knowledge," the error was harmless. Id.

The same is true of the instant case. The testimony of the officers at issue was brief, and the objected-to portion thereof concerned the identification of Evans as Angel's shooter. Both Erica and Sammy testified at length at Evans' trial, identifying him as Angel's shooter. Moreover, the other officers from the hospital testified and Lt. Laderwrag testified to the initial statements regarding a different shooter. Thus, any error in admission of the officer's statements relating the identification of Evans made by these two witnesses is harmless beyond a reasonable doubt. Henyard.

Moreover, Evans' complaint that the officers' testimony regarding the identification improperly bolstered the in-court testimony of Erica and Sammy is not preserved for appellate review because it was not raised below. Steinhorst v. State, 412 So. 2d 332 (Fla. 1982), cert. denied, 522 U.S. 1022 (1997). However, even if preserved, the claim is without merit because Erica and Sammy testified at trial and were subjected to extensive cross-examination. The jury had ample opportunity to assess the credibility of both of them. See Kormondy v.

State, 703 So. 2d 454, 458 (Fla. 1997). Thus, the brief hearsay statements of the subject officers cannot reasonably be said to have improperly bolstered the trial testimony of either Erica or Sammy. See id. Finally, admission of these officers' testimony regarding identification of Evans as the shooter is harmless because Evans took the stand and admitted shooting Angel. (R 1838). While it is true that he claimed the shot was an accident, and even blamed the accident on Angel, even his version of events identifies him as the shooter. He testified that he was trying to hand the gun to Angel in the backseat, and when she pushed it away, it went off, killing her. (R 1838). Moreover, he demonstrated how he shot her. (R 1855-56, 1857). Thus, even if the officers' testimony regarding the victims' identification of him as the shooter was improperly admitted under the excited utterance exception to the hearsay rule, the error was harmless due to Evans' admissions at trial and the cumulative nature of the officers' testimony regarding the identification. See Chariot v. State, 679 So. 2d 844 (Fla. 4th DCA 1996).

Any improper bolstering of testimony was harmless beyond a reasonable doubt. *Kormondy; Chariot*. Evans is entitled to no relief.

POINT II

THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT ERR IN DENYING EVANS' MISTRIAL MOTION BASED ON ALLEGATIONS THAT THE PROSECUTOR'S REBUTTAL CLOSING ARGUMENT IMPROPERLY SHIFTED THE BURDEN OF PROOF TO HIM.

Evans complains that during rebuttal closing argument, the State made comments which shifted the burden of proof from it to him. (IB 22). The standard of review is abuse of the trial court's discretion. Breedlove v. State, 413 So. 2d 1, 8 (Fla 1982). "Wide latitude is permitted in arguing to a jury." Thomas v. State, 326 So. 2d 413 (Fla. 1975). Control of such comments is within the trial court's discretion, and an appellate court will not interfere unless an abuse of discretion is shown. Thomas; Paramore v. State, 229 So. 2d 855 (Fla. 1969), modified, 408 U.S. 935, 92 S.Ct. 2857, 33 L.Ed.2d 751 (1972).

Evans admits that he did not object to the first comments about which he complains on appeal. (IB 28). However, he claims that since he "promptly objected to" the "second offending remark" and referenced the prior comment in his argument, the failure to properly preserve the issue, much less bring it to the trial court's attention in a timely manner, should be overlooked. Citing Ruiz v. State, he argues that "when the properly preserved objectionable comment is considered in

conjunction with the arguably unpreserved objectionable comment," the result is an "error [that] cannot be deemed harmless." (IB 28).

In Ruiz, the defendant claimed that "the prosecutors engaged in egregious misconduct during closing argument in both the guilt and penalty phases of the trial." 743 So. 2d 1, 3 (Fla. 1999). Two prosecutors were involved, and there were three complained-of lines of improper comments during closing argument. Id. at 3-6. These lines of comments were not a couple of brief comments, as in the instant case, but were lengthy impassioned arguments which crossed the realm of acceptable comments by a wide margin. Moreover, consideration of unobjected-to comments together with the objected-to ones in Ruiz was grounded in this Court having identified three significant and harmful errors and one error which under the circumstances of the Ruiz case was not harmful. Id. at 7-9. Such errors are not present in the instant case (neither has Evans argued any), and therefore, Evans is not entitled to have the unpreserved comments considered by this Court. Evans' failure to raise an objection to the first complained-of comment procedurally bars its consideration.

Assuming arguendo that the claim is properly before this Court, it is without merit. It has long been the rule that a

trial judge has broad discretion to permit closing argument. See Breedlove v. State, 413 So. 2d at 8 (Fla. 1982). Logical inferences from the evidence may be drawn by the prosecutor, and all legitimate arguments may be advanced. Id.

In Parker v. State, the prosecutor in commenting on the defense theory of events stated: "'Now in order to believe that theory or fantasy that Mr. Hitchcock told you about, about the Stans and this....'" 641 So. 2d 369, 375 (Fla. 1994). This Court upheld the trial court's ruling that the statement was a "'fair comment, perhaps invited by the closing argument by the defense.'" Id. There was no abuse of discretion. Id.

Likewise, in Evans case, the prosecutor was commenting on the defense theory of events. Evans consistently argued that his shooting of Angel was an accident and that he had planned to report the matter to the police the next morning. The prosecutor was merely pointing out that Evans' order to Lino to dispose of the gun with which he shot Angel militated against crediting that defense. In other words, if the gun went off without Evans firing it, why would he have ordered its disposal? It is a logical inference from the evidence that he told Lino to get rid of that the gun because it would not have supported his defense of a shooting being caused by Angel jarring or slapping the gun. Thus, the comment was a fair comment on the evidence,

invited by Evans. Evans has not carried his burden to show that the trial judge abused his discretion in permitting the subject argument. Finally, any error in permitting the comment was harmless. This is not a case where the prosecutor told the jury that the defendant had the burden to prove, or disprove, any element of the offense. The complained-of comment was directly specifically to the defense affirmatively offered by Evans. Moreover, the evidence of Evans' guilt was overwhelming, including the testimony of eyewitnesses. There is no reasonable possibility that the absence of these complained-of comments would have produced a different result. Evans is entitled to no relief.

POINT III

THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT GIVE INCOMPLETE AND CONFUSING JURY INSTRUCTIONS IN VIOLATION OF APPELLANT'S DUE PROCESS RIGHTS.

Evans complains that the trial judge's jury instruction on kidnapping was incomplete and confusing. (IB 30). He says that the jury instructions on two of the theories under which kidnapping may be established were "improperly combined" and resulted in "totally eliminat[ing] an essential element." (IB 31). This, he claims, rendered "the instructions confusing and misleading." (IB 31).

Evans admits that his trial counsel did not object to the instruction below. (IB 32). However, he claims that the net result of the instruction as given was to eliminate an element of the offense and such an error "amounts to fundamental error which need not be preserved below." (IB 32).

The standard of review of claims of fundamental error is well-established. Fundamental error is that "which goes to the foundation of the case." Sanford v. Rubin, 237 So. 2d 134, 137 (Fla. 1970). It is "error which reaches down into the validity of the trial itself to the extent that a verdict . . . could not have been obtained without the . . . error." Archer v. State,

673 So. 2d 17, 20 (Fla. 1996), cert. denied, 519 U.S. 876 (1996). [J]ury instructions are subject to the contemporaneous objection rule, and absent an objection at trial, can be raised on appeal only if fundamental error occurred. Id.

Archer v. State, this Court said that even unconstitutionally vague jury instructions on aggravating factors do not provide a basis for relief on appeal unless the defendant made "a specific objection or propose[d] alternative instruction at trial " 673 So. 2d at 19. Evans' counsel did not make an objection of any kind to the kidnapping instruction which the trial judge gave; neither did he propose a different instruction. Evans made no objection to that instruction at the charge conference, when it was given, or at the post instruction comment phase. Thus, the instant claim is not preserved for appellate review.

Moreover, it is without merit. Evans' claim is that "the jury is never told that kidnapping can be committed if the defendant had the intent to facilitate the commission of murder." (IB 33). He acknowledges, however, that the jury was "told that kidnapping was committed if the defendant intended to terrorize the victims." (IB 33). He then complains that "the

17

Quoting Brown v. State, 124 So. 2d 481, 484 (Fla. 1960).

options as to the confinement requirement which is only applicable if . . . [there was] intent to commit or facilitate the commission of another felony" were given. (IB 33).

The record shows that the jury was fully instructed on kidnapping with the intent to terrorize. (R 2109, 2110). He was convicted of Kidnapping with a firearm. (R 2144). While the information regarding the confinement requirement may be applicable only if the type of kidnapping found is the intent to commit or facilitate another felony, that information was, at most, superfluous. If anything, it required the jury to make a greater finding of culpability, i.e., both intent to terrorize and confinement of a certain type and/or duration, than required under the law. Thus, any error was in Evans' favor and was harmless beyond a reasonable doubt.

Moreover, any ambiguity in the giving of the kidnapping instruction could have been clarified by the simple expedient of calling it to the judge's attention through a proper objection at the proper time. Having utterly failed to make any complaint whatsoever about this matter in the trial court, Evans' instant claim is procedurally barred. See State v. Wilson, 686 So. 2d 569, 570 (Fla. 1996).

Moreover, although the trial court's instruction on kidnapping may have been ambiguous or incomplete, it was not

fundamental error. Even assuming arguendo that the instruction at issue omitted an essential element of kidnapping to facilitate a felony, Evans is entitled to no relief. An error in failing to instruct a jury on an essential element of a crime is not fundamental where the element is not in genuine dispute. Stewart v. State, 420 So. 2d 862, 863 (Fla. 1982), cert. denied, 460 U.S. 1103 (1983). See Morton v. State, 459 So. 2d 322, 323 (Fla. 3d DCA 1984). Evans has not argued that there was a genuine dispute as to any essential element of the crime he claims was not instructed on. Certainly, such a position was not argued below. Since it is his burden to establish error, that failure forecloses any relief.

Further, any error is harmless because the standard of proof was higher under the instruction given than under the intent to terrorize instruction. It is also harmless because the evidence of Evans' guilt of intent-to-terrorize kidnapping is overwhelming. There is no reasonable possibility, much less probability, that the jury would not have found Evans guilty of kidnapping had the confinement instruction not been given.

Evans is entitled to no relief.

POINT IV

THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT ERR IN DENYING EVANS' MOTION FOR JUDGMENT OF ACQUITTAL AS TO PREMEDITATION AND/OR KIDNAPPING.

Premeditation

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